
REGULAR MEETING 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, April 7, 2021 
5:00 PM 

VILLAGE HALL – BOARD ROOM 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF MARCH 3, 2021 MEETING 

 
4. DRAFT BUSINESS DISTRICT STUDY PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 

 
5. DISCUSSION ON BUSINESS DISTRICT PROJECTS AND PROGRAMS 

 
6. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 

The mission of the Economic Development Committee (EDC) is to grow a stronger business 
climate by being an active partner with businesses, investors, and residents. The EDC shall 
strengthen economic development in the Village by developing business retention, expansion, 
and attraction programs; the creation and implementation of economic development plans and 
policies; being business ambassadors to the community; coordinating with other governments 
on projects; and submitting an annual Economic Development Position Report to the Village 
Board at the beginning of the fiscal year. 
 
Attendance and Public Comment Procedures: Pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s Executive 
Order 2020-71 physical attendance at this meeting shall be limited to 25 people due to 
maximum room capacity limitations. Therefore, attendance by members of the public for the 
April 7, 2021 Economic Development Committee meeting will be permitted both in person 
(subject to social distancing and capacity limitations) and virtually. Here is a link to watch and 
listen to the meeting live beginning at 5:00 PM on Wednesday, April 7, 2021. Public comments 
will be taken in advance of the meeting via email at abeltran@burr-ridge.gov. Public 
comments may also be made at the applicable time during the meeting by calling (312) 626-
6799  and entering the conference identification number (872 1134 7706#). All participants 
will be muted upon entering the virtual meeting and be unmuted at the direction of the 
Chairman. Prior to voting on each agenda item, email comments for that agenda item will be 
read into the record, and the Chairman will pause to receive virtual comments. The same 
procedure will be followed for any person seeking to address the EDC under Public Comment. 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87211347706?pwd=Q1c0WVNiekdPOFl6Mi9LZ0ZMR0JGdz09
mailto:abeltran@burr-ridge.gov


MINUTES 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE MEETING 

March 3, 2021 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Gary Grasso called the meeting to order at 5:05 p.m. The 

meeting was held in person and on zoom at the Village Hall. 
ROLL CALL: Present:  Mayor Gary Grasso, Ramzi Hassan, Debbie Hamilton, 

Kristen Jepsen, Michael Simmons. Sam Odeh participated by 
phone. 

  Absent: Trustee Tony Schiappa Mark Stangle, Paul Stettin, Leslie 
Bowman, and Bhagwan Sharma 

  Also Present: Interim Village Administrator Evan Walter, 
Communications & Public Relations Coordinator Janet Kowal, 
Management Analyst Andrez Beltran, and Russell Smith 

MINUTES: A MOTION was made by Ms. Hamilton to approve the Minutes 
from the November 4, 2020 meeting.  The MOTION was seconded 
by Mr. Simmons and approved by a vote of 6-0.    

 
BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE 2021-2022 VILLAGE BUDGET 
 
Mr. Walter gave a brief overview of the Village Budget for FY2022. He stated that revenues were 
higher than expected this time last year. Sales tax outperformed expectations due to strong online 
sales as well as sales taxes. Additional revenue would be coming in would be from the Business 
Licensing program; however, some revenues were still down as part of the trend such as 
telecommunications tax. 
 
Mayor Grasso pointed out that the Committee’s efforts with the tent program and balanced 
enforcement over the summer directly were responsible for stronger place of eating taxes. He gave 
thanks to the Committee on their hard work.  
 
Ms. Jepsen asked about the cannabis income as the Village did not approve for retail sales. Mr. 
Walter explained that as part of State law legalizing cannabis, some of the tax revenue is directed 
to all municipalities that can only be spent on police training.  
 
Mayor Grasso wanted to note that the Police Pension contribution for next year was up to 
$910,000. It has been growing roughly $70,000 per year but had risen by over $130,000 in the 
most recent fiscal year. As such, bringing in new revenues is important.  
 
DISCUSSION OF SOURCES OF REVENUE GROWTH 
 
Mayor Grasso stated that with the Police Pension contribution growth, the Village was looking for 
ideas for revenue to balance it out. Cannabis had been one option, but the residents had disagreed 
with allowing retail in the Village. Perhaps that was something to look into now after its 
implementation has been observed over the last year. Mr. Walter stated that Naperville’s stores 
were providing an average of $130,000 in revenue to the City per year. However, even with a 
second round opening, most of the licenses have been spoke for, so even if the Village allowed 
cannabis sales, it would be several years before they would make an impact. 
 



Economic Development Committee  
Minutes – March 3, 2021  
 
Mayor Grasso continued that another source of revenue growth was filling Village Center. With 
the changes that were first proposed at the EDC and eventually approved by the Plan Commission 
and Village Board, Village Center was beginning to fill up.  
 
Mr. Hassan stated that with the changes there had been greater interest in Village Center, and 
several new stores were going in. Beach and Dill, a premiere custom home designer, would be 
having a showroom. Additionally, a dessert shop, several health and wellness businesses, and Yolk, 
a boutique breakfast place popular in Chicago, would also be opening up soon. Mr. Hassan 
concluded by saying there were several other announcement expected to be made soon, and Village 
Center was projected to be 80-90% full by the end of the year.  
 
Mayor Grasso asked if there were any further suggestions. 
 
Mr. Beltran stated that one option that was present was to revisit approving video gaming in the 
Village. Mayor Grasso stated that the Village residents, himself included, previously had concerns 
with the video gaming changing the family character of the restaurants of the Village. Additionally, 
he did not think it would fit in with most restaurants. 
 
Mr. Hassan stated that when his hometown was putting it in he agreed with the Mayor one hundred 
percent. However, after its approval and implementation, he has reversed his position on the idea. 
Not every restaurant that can have it does so because it does not match their character or corporate 
image. Even those that have machines make them as unobtrusive as possible. It has really helped 
the businesses thrive.  
 
Mayor Grasso stated he was still reluctant but asked the Committee to discuss it so he could hear 
their ideas. Mr. Hassan stated that not every restaurant would want machines as part of their décor 
or to add the video recording equipment as state law requires. Mayor Grasso asked the Committee 
to brainstorm what restaurants might have them. The Committee suggested Falco’s as a natural 
place as well as possibly La Cabanita. Mr. Simmons pointed out that the hotels in the Village may 
also be interested as well.  
 
Mayor Grasso stated that he was still reluctant to move forward on video gaming at this time but 
that it was perhaps something that could be revisited in the future. Mr. Walter said that staff would 
revisit the subject to be better prepared for any possible discussion in the future. 
 
UPDATE ON BUSINESS DISTRICT STUDY 
 
Mr. Beltran stated that a partial Draft Business District Study has been delivered to staff by SB 
Friedman. The initial analysis shows the Downtown Business District qualifying for adoption as 
well as having a strong base to perform well. Staff is in the process in providing the final 
information needed to complete the study with an expected delivery date in April. 
 
Mayor Grasso stated that although the Business District would be a tax, it is a consumer tax for 
those who use the services in the downtown. With the needed investments and planning for the 
downtown, including the TCF parcel, it was too important to not have a tool for reinvestment. The 
Business District would be that tool. With the challenges faces the Chicagoland area and the State 
of Illinois, everything has to be on the table. 
 
Mr. Walter added that since Burr Ridge announced the study he has gotten additional interest in 
the downtown. It shows developers and businesses that the Village is willing to invest and be a 



Economic Development Committee  
Minutes – March 3, 2021  
 
partner. However, a big part of the Business District will be as Mayor Grasso said: planning. 
Knowing what the Village does not want downtown will be as valuable as what it does want. That 
way staff can know who to contact and who to turn down.  
 
Mr. Smith asked if there was thought for placing electrical charging stations downtown. Mr. 
Hassan stated that he was speaking to a company that day to do just that at Village Center.  
 
Mr. Odeh stated as part of the plan the Committee needed to create guidelines for projects, 
primarily looking at their return on investment. Mr. Hassan agreed, and it related to something he 
would bring up later under other considerations. 
 
UPDATE ON BUSINESS LICENSING 
 
Mr. Beltran stated that as of March 1, 2021, there are 151 Business Licenses and 41 Exempt 
Licenses issued. He provided a business list will be at the meeting. There are a number of 
businesses that are not on the list. Staff would request assistance with outreach to businesses to let 
them know they need a license. Licensing is open for the 2021-2022 year with a fee of $100.  
 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Mr. Hassan stated that as part of the Business District, one program could be for improvements to 
building exteriors such as facades or expanding outdoor seating space. He continued that he could 
see it as a match program with the Village matching up to a certain dollar amount. Mayor Grasso 
stated to Mr. Odeh’s point that adding outdoor seats would be easy to see from a return standpoint, 
but others they would have to figure out how the improvement would increase revenues. Ms. 
Jepsen stated that they could also look at the zoning codes for permanent outdoor seating. Mayor 
Grasso agreed, and asked staff to put it on the next agenda for discussion. 
 
Ms. Hamilton stated that the Chamber held restaurant week and it was a great success. She also 
stated that socially distanced after hour events were starting and invited the Committee members 
to attend.  
 
Ms. Jepsen asked if there was some way they could do a restaurant week in tents for Burr Ridge. 
Mr. Walter stated that there is a plan for a “Taste of Burr Ridge” style event in the fall at Village 
Center with $25,000 allocated in the budget. Mayor Grasso added it was something that the Village 
has wanted to do for some time and with the success of the tent program it seemed a natural fit. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mr. Simmons made the MOTION to adjourn the meeting to April 7, 2021 at 5:00pm, 
SECONDED by Ms. Hamilton. APPROVED 6-0. The meeting was adjourned at 6:10pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
     



Economic Development Committee  
Minutes – March 3, 2021  
 

 
 
Andrez Beltran 
Management Analyst 



 
 

 

VILLAGE OF BURR RIDGE 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 
TO:  Economic Development Committee (EDC) 
  Mayor Gary Grasso, Chairman 
         
FROM: Andrez Beltran, Management Analyst 
    
DATE: April 7, 2021 
 
RE: Economic Development Committee Agenda Items Summary 
 
Please find below a brief summary of the agenda items of the April 7, 2021 EDC meeting.  
  
Draft Business District Study Presentation and Discussion 
A Draft of the Business District Study has been delivered by SB Friedman. Staff will present an 
overview of the document. In summary, the findings are that the Downtown area would be eligible 
for the creation of a Business District due to: defective, non-existent, or inadequate street layout; 
and deterioration of site improvements, which constitute an economic underutilization of the area. 
Additionally, the four other findings/tests for eligibility (lack of growth and development through 
private investment; but for the District the area would not be redeveloped; contiguity of parcels, 
and conformance to the plans of the Village) are also met.  
 
Staff is looking for feedback on the study or a recommendation to Village Board on whether to 
pursue or not the establishment of a Business District.  
 
Discussion of Business Projects and Programs 
If the Business District is recommended by the EDC and approved by the Village Board, there are 
a number of projects and programs that it can fund. One such program suggested is a grant for 
restaurants who expand their footprint to bring in new revenue. Another project is a comprehensive 
plan for the downtown to create a strategy for development and redevelopment. 
 
Staff is looking for input on possible project and programs that would revitalize the downtown and 
increase tax revenues. Additionally, any qualifications or requirements for said projects and 
programs.   
 



 
 

 

VILLAGE OF BURR RIDGE, ILLINOIS  

Downtown Business District 
Eligibility Study and Business District Plan 

 

 
DRAFT REPORT | April 1, 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

VILLAGE OF BURR RIDGE, IL 

Downtown Business District 
 

 

Table of Contents 
  

 

 

 

SECTION PAGE 

 

1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Eligibility Study ............................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

3. Business District Plan ................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Appendix 1: Boundary Legal Description ................................................................................................................................ 19 

Appendix 2: List of PINs in Proposed Downtown Business District ................................................................................. 20 

Appendix 3. Limitations of Engagement ................................................................................................................................. 21 

 

 

 

LIST OF MAPS 

 

Map 1: Context .................................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Map 2: Proposed Business District Boundary .......................................................................................................................... 3 

Map 3: Defective, Non-Existent or Inadequate Street Layout ............................................................................................ 8 

Map 4: Deterioration of Site Improvements ............................................................................................................................ 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

S. B. FRIEDMAN & COMPANY 

221 N. LaSalle St. Suite 820 Chicago, IL 60601 

T: 312.424.4250 F: 312.424.4262 E: info@sbfriedman.com 

www.sbfriedman.com 

 

 

Contact: Geoff Dickinson  

T: 312.384.2404 E: gdickinson@sbfriedman.com



 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  1 

1. Introduction 

The Village of Burr Ridge, Illinois (the “Village”) engaged SB Friedman Development Advisors (“SB Friedman”) 

to conduct an eligibility study and prepare a business district plan for the proposed Downtown Business District 

(the “Business District” or “Area”) under the provisions of the Illinois Business District Development and 

Redevelopment Law (65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-1 et seq., as amended) (the “Act”).  

 

This document (the “Report”) includes two major parts: (1) information on the eligibility factors and other 

findings necessary to designate the area as a business district under the Act (the “Eligibility Study”); and (2) the 

Business District Plan (the “Plan”). SB Friedman has prepared this Report with the understanding that the Village 

would rely on its findings and conclusions in proceeding with the designation of the proposed Business District 

and the adoption and implementation of the Plan in compliance with the Act. 

 

The Proposed Business District 
 

The proposed Business District encompasses properties in and around the Burr Ridge Village Center, south of 

Interstate 55 along the western edge of Cook County. It is roughly bounded by County Line Road and Bridewell 

Drive to the east, Bridewell Drive to the north and residential neighborhoods to the south and east. The 

proposed Business District consists of a total of 36 parcels. The Area contains approximately 130 acres, of which 

approximately 15 acres are non-parcelized rights-of-way.  

 

The location of the proposed Business District is displayed in Map 1 on the following page, with a more detailed 

boundary presented in Map 2. The legal description of the proposed Business District and a list of Property 

Index Numbers (PINs) are included in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2, respectively.



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  2 

Map 1: Context 

 
Sources: Esri; SB Friedman



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  3 

Map 2: Proposed Business District Boundary 

 
Sources: Cook County; Esri; SB Friedman  



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  4 

2. Eligibility Study 

The proposed Business District suffers from an inadequate street layout and deteriorated site improvements. 

These characteristics appear to be hindering the economic potential of the proposed Business District. In order 

to enhance its economic viability, it is critical that the physical conditions of the proposed Business District be 

improved. So long as the infrastructure network is inadequate, and sites improvements are deteriorated, the 

economic viability of the proposed Business District will likely continue to be challenged. The proposed 

Business District will benefit from a strategy that improves physical conditions and addresses deteriorating 

infrastructure and issues with the street layout, allowing for economic growth and redevelopment. 

  

The eligibility findings presented herein cover events and conditions that were determined to support a finding 

that the Area qualifies as a “blighted area” under the Act. 

 

Eligibility Provisions of the Illinois Business District Development and 
Redevelopment Act 
 

In order to impose taxes within a business district, a municipality must find that the area meets the “blighted 

area” provision under the Act and satisfies several other findings and tests. These eligibility criteria are 

summarized below. 

 

BLIGHTED AREA DEFINITION 

 

A business district can be considered a blighted area under the Act by the predominance of at least one of the 

following five factors:  

 

 Defective, Non-Existent or Inadequate Street Layout 

 Unsanitary or Unsafe Conditions 

 Deterioration of Site Improvements 

 Improper Subdivision or Obsolete Platting 

 Existence of Conditions which Endanger Life or Property by Fire or Other Causes 

 

In addition, the presence of the factor(s) must have at least one of the following four effects on the business 

district:  

 

 Retard(s) the Provision of Housing Accommodations 

 Constitute(s) an Economic or Social Liability 

 Constitute(s) an Economic Underutilization of the Area 

 Constitute(s) a Menace to the Public Health, Safety, Morals or Welfare 

 

OTHER REQUIRED FINDINGS AND TESTS 

 

Four additional findings and tests are required for designation of a business district:  

 

1. Lack of Growth and Development through Private Investment. The Village is required to evaluate 

whether a business district has been subject to growth and development through investment by 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  5 

private enterprises and must substantiate a finding of lack of such investment prior to establishing a 

business district. 

2. “But For” the Creation of a Business District, Area Would Not Be Redeveloped. The Village must 

find that the area would not reasonably be anticipated to be developed or redeveloped without the 

adoption of the business district plan. 

3. Contiguity of Parcels. The boundary of a business district must contain contiguous parcels that are 

directly and substantially benefited by the plan. 

4. Conformance to the Plans of the Village. A business district plan must conform to the 

comprehensive plan of the Village.  

 

Methodology Overview 
 

SB Friedman conducted the following analyses to determine whether the proposed Business District qualifies 

as a blighted area, as defined by the Act: 

 

 Parcel-by-parcel fieldwork in December 2020 documenting external property conditions of properties 

and infrastructure; 

 Analysis of historic trends in equalized assessed value for the last six years (five year-to-year periods) 

for which data are available and final (2014-2019) from the Cook County Assessor’s Office; 

 Historic trends in Village EAV from the DuPage portion of the Village from DuPage County Clerk’s 

office 

 Review of GIS parcel shapefile data from Cook County;  

 Review of GIS sidewalk shapefile data from the Village; 

 Review of traffic collision data (2015-2020) and a 2019 Traffic Crash Analysis report provided by the 

Village Police Department; 

 Review of an engineering memo from the Director of Public Works Director/Village Engineer for the 

Village, dated March 25, 2021; and 

 Review of the 1999 Burr Ridge Comprehensive Plan (“1999 Comprehensive Plan”) and 2005 Burr Ridge 

Corporate Park Sub-Area Plan.  

 

All parcels were examined for eligibility factors consistent with the blighted area requirements of the Act. SB 

Friedman evaluated the eligibility factors on a parcel-by-parcel or area-wide basis, as applicable, and analyzed 

the spatial distribution of the eligibility factors. When appropriate, the presence of eligibility factors was 

calculated on adjacent infrastructure associated with the structures. The eligibility factors were linked to tax 

parcels and buildings using aerial photographs, property files created from field observations, and record 

searches. The information was then graphically plotted on a parcel map of the proposed Business District to 

establish the distribution of eligibility factors, and to determine which factors were present to a meaningful 

extent and reasonably distributed to evaluate their predominance throughout the proposed Business District. 

 

Eligibility Findings 
 

BLIGHTED AREA FINDING 

 

SB Friedman’s research indicates the proposed Business District qualifies as a blighted area due to the 

predominance of the following two factors: 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  6 

 

1. Defective, Non-Existent or Inadequate Street Layout 

2. Deterioration of Site Improvements 

 

Maps 3 and 4 display the spatial distribution of these factors throughout the proposed Business District. 

 

Defective, Non-Existent or Inadequate Street Layout 

 

SB Friedman reviewed information from the Village to assess the street layout and transportation challenges 

within the proposed Business District. An engineering memo provided by the Director of Public Works 

Director/Village Engineer, dated March 25, 2021, supports a finding of inadequate street layout throughout 

the proposed Business District.  

 

The current street layout inadequately serves vehicle traffic throughout the proposed Business District. 

Vehicular ingress and egress is primarily accommodated by one road, Burr Ridge Parkway, and a single 

intersection, at County Line Road, impacting circulation for the entire proposed Business District. As a result, 

an inadequate street layout impacts all parcels in the proposed Business District (36 of 36 total parcels, or 

100%). Accessing the Area from other directions requires driving through residential neighborhoods; crossing 

the Area requires driving on or through Burr Ridge Parkway. According to Burr Ridge’s Director of Public Works 

Director/Village Engineer, the limited ingress and egress “adversely [affects] traffic circulation” within the 

proposed Business District. At the County Line Road intersection there is no channelized turn lane or traffic 

signal phase for the predominant traffic pattern. As a result, there are significant delays at this intersection, 

even when there is low traffic. This intersection is also a common site of traffic accidents. According to a 2019 

Traffic Crash Analysis report, the intersection of Burr Ridge Parkway and County Line Road had the 5th most 

crashes of all Village intersection in 2019, and the 3rd most crashes of all Village intersections in 2018.  

 

Pedestrian traffic is also inadequately served by the existing layout. Burr Ridge Parkway lacks safe pedestrian 

crossings, which discourages walking within the proposed Business District. The only signalized crossing on 

this street is located at Bridewell Drive; there are no signalized mid-block crossings, making it difficult for 

pedestrians to reach the Burr Ridge Village Center from other points along Burr Ridge Parkway. Mid-block 

locations have been requested from residential neighborhoods adjacent to the Business District, especially at 

a Lincolnshire Drive, in order to access the restaurants and other amenities of the commercial district.  

 

Finally, roadways throughout the proposed Business District lack adequate lighting. No lighting exists on 

Bridewell Drive. Light poles that are present in the Area do not meet current industry standards for either 

roadways or pedestrian walkways and are prone to frequent failures. Darkness may reduce perception of 

personal security, and may make walking, cycling or shopping feel unsafe. In conjunction with other challenges 

to vehicular and pedestrian circulation, the lack of proper lighting contributes to the inadequacy of the existing 

street network in the proposed Business District.  

 

Based on these findings, this factor was found to be meaningfully present and reasonably distributed 

throughout the proposed Business District, as illustrated in Map 3.  

  



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  7 

Deterioration of Site Improvements 

 

Physical deterioration of surface improvements and/or buildings was observed on a predominance of parcels 

(26 of 36 total parcels, or 72%). The most common form of deterioration was on surface improvements, 

especially parking surfaces and sidewalks. Catalogued surface improvement deterioration from fieldwork 

included cracking or crumbling parking lots, roads, sidewalks and curbs.  

 

An engineering memo provided by the Director of Public Works Director/Village Engineer, dated March 25, 

2021, provides additional detail on the condition of streets and sidewalks in the proposed Business District. 

According to this memo, “Pavement conditions throughout the Study Area are rated “Good”, except Bridewell 

Drive, which has a “Fair” rating in the Study Area limits. Bridewell Drive asphalt pavement is deteriorating with 

potholes and large cracks both longitudinally and transversely.” Additionally, several sidewalk segments are 

aging and noncompliant with State-adopted standard of the Public Right of Way Accessibility Guidelines 

(PROWAG) and require replacement in concrete to address cracking and differential settlements. According to 

the memo, “Where sidewalks have been constructed in asphalt, such as segments on McClintock Drive, 

Lincolnshire Drive, and Burr Ridge Parkway, its walking surface is cracked, settled, and degraded. The Pathway 

Commission, an advisory body to the Village Board of Trustees, has identified these segments as “Fair” 

condition and has requested their replacement in concrete.”  

 

Deterioration of surface improvements may indicate that the proposed Business District lacks investment and 

can make it more difficult to attract new businesses or consumers. This factor was found to be meaningfully 

present and reasonably distributed throughout the proposed Business District. Map 4 displays the spatial 

distribution of deterioration throughout the proposed Business District.  

  



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  8 

Map 3: Defective, Non-Existent or Inadequate Street Layout 

  
Sources: Esri; Cook County; SB Friedman; Village of Burr Ridge  



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  9 

Map 4: Deterioration of Site Improvements 

 
Sources: Cook County; Esri; SB Friedman 

  



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  10 

Effect of Blighting Factors on the Proposed Business District 
 

It appears the present blighting factors have the following effect on the proposed Business District: 

 

 Constitute an Economic Underutilization of the Area 

 

ECONOMIC UNDERUTILIZATION OF THE AREA 

 

The minimal increase in overall property values within the proposed Business District since 2014 and recent 

retail performance of the Burr Ridge Village Center portion of the Area suggest that deterioration and an 

inadequate street layout may be affecting the economic potential of the Area, reducing its commercial appeal 

to both businesses and consumers.   

 

1. Property Values 

 

An evaluation of change in property values over time is one of the clearest indicators of whether an 

area is meeting its economic potential or is being economically underutilized. SB Friedman analyzed 

the change in the equalized assessed value (EAV) – property values as determined by the Cook County 

Assessor – of the tax parcels, including all condominium parcels, in the proposed Business District from 

2014 to 2019 relative to the remainder of the Village. 

 

The EAV of the proposed Business District as a whole – accounting for all land uses – has declined in 

three of the past five year-to-year periods. Furthermore, the proposed Business District has grown 

more slowly or declined more quickly than the balance of the Village in each of the past five year-to-

year periods. These results are shown in Table 1 below.  

 

Table 1: Year-to-Year Growth in EAV of Proposed Business District and Village from 2014 – 2019 

  2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Proposed Business District Parcels 

EAV 
$29.1 M $28.7 M $28.8 M $31.9 M $31.0 M $30.2 M 

Percent Change --- -1.4% 0.3% 10.7% -2.7% -2.7% 

Proposed Business District Parcels 

Decline in EAV? 
--- YES NO NO YES YES 

Village EAV Less Proposed Business 

District Parcels 
$974.8 M $980.1 M $1,026.6 M $1,158.0 M $1,169.1 M $1,165.0 M 

Change in Village EAV Less Proposed 

Business District Parcels 
--- 0.5% 4.7% 12.8% 1.0% -0.4% 

Proposed Business District Parcels 

Growth Less Than Village Balance? 
--- YES YES YES YES YES 

Sources: Cook County Assessor; Cook County Clerk; DuPage County Clerk; SB Friedman 

 

Overall, during that time period, the proposed Business District grew by 3.6%, while the balance of the 

Village grew by 19.5%. The compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of the EAV for the proposed 

Business District was only approximately 0.7% from 2014 to 2019, whereas the CAGR of the EAV for 

the balance of the Village over the same period was approximately 3.6%. Additionally, despite 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  11 

encompassing the primary commercial area in the Village, accounting for only non-residential uses, 

the EAV of the proposed Business District has declined since 2014. 

 

2. Burr Ridge Village Center Retail Performance 

 

The Burr Ridge Village Center—the primary shopping district in the Area—has struggled relative to 

similar developments in nearby communities. Village staff indicated that the existing street network 

layout contributes to low Center visibility and poses challenges for retailers. As Table 2 indicates, the 

Burr Ridge Village Center has greater vacancy and lower per square foot rents than other peer 

shopping districts across Chicagoland. It has consistently underperformed rival centers. Since 2011, the 

Burr Ridge Village Center has had an average vacancy rate of 13.4%. Over the same period, the four 

peer centers together have had an average vacancy rate of 5.8%. Greater vacancy combined with 

lower per square foot rents indicates that the Burr Ridge Village Center is a less desirable location for 

major retailers relative to other shopping centers. As a result, these performance metrics advance the 

notion that the Area is currently underutilized.  

 

Table 2: Comparable Shopping Centers Performance  

  Vacancy Rent/SF 

Burr Ridge Village Center 12.5% $21.49 

Algonquin Commons 8.9% $31.83 

Arboretum of South Barrington 0% $25.69 

Deer Park Town Center 0% $30.83 

Geneva Commons 7.3% $30.69 

Sources: CoStar; SB Friedman  

 

Existing physical conditions, including deterioration and the street layout, appear to be hindering the ability of 

the proposed Business District to attract sufficient investment and development to compete with comparable 

shopping centers and attain property value growth on par with the remainder of the Village, and therefore, 

constitutes an economic underutilization of the Area. 

 

Other Required Findings and Tests 
 

In addition to finding of blight, the Act specifies four separate required findings and tests for designation. SB 

Friedman’s research, as described below, indicates that the proposed Business District satisfies these 

requirements. 

 

1. LACK OF GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT THROUGH PRIVATE INVESTMENT 

 

Overall growth in property value within the proposed Business District has been substantially lower than the 

remainder of the Village from 2014 to 2019. As described above and shown in Table 2, the total EAV of the 

properties in the proposed Business District has grown more slowly or declined more quickly than the balance 

of the Village in each of the last five year-to-year periods. These metrics indicate a lack of growth and private 

investment in the proposed Business District.  

 

While there has been some limited new construction and expansion within the proposed Business District over 

the past five years, the private market has been unable to support substantial new development without public 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  12 

assistance. Furthermore, despite some additional renovation and maintenance, overall EAV has grown at a rate 

less than the balance of the Village over the five-year period.  

 

Finding: The proposed Business District on the whole has not been subject to growth and development through 

investment by private enterprises. 

 

2. “BUT FOR” THE CREATION OF A BUSINESS DISTRICT, AREA WOULD NOT BE REDEVELOPED 

 

Without the support of public resources, the redevelopment objectives for the proposed Business District 

would most likely not be realized. The Area-wide improvements and development assistance resources needed 

to upgrade existing infrastructure and support new development and redevelopment are extensive and costly. 

The private market, on its own, has shown little ability to absorb all such costs. The Village has limited capacity 

to fund capital improvements of the sort that appear necessary to remove blighting factors.  

 

Given the overall decline in property value, limited new private investment without public assistance, 

inadequate street layout and existing surface deterioration, it appears unlikely that significant private 

investment would occur in the Area without creation of the Business District. 

 

Finding: The Area would not reasonably be anticipated to be developed or redeveloped without the adoption of 

the Business District Plan.  

 

3. CONTIGUITY OF PARCELS 

 

Finding: All parcels in the Area are contiguous and are expected to directly and substantially benefit from the 

Business District Plan. 

 

4. CONFORMANCE TO THE PLANS OF THE VILLAGE 

 

Finding: Based on a review of the 1999 Comprehensive Plan, the Business District Plan conforms to the Village’s 

comprehensive plan for development of the municipality as a whole. 

 

Summary of Findings 
 

SB Friedman found that the proposed Business District qualifies to be designated as a “blighted area.”  The 

proposed Business District is blighted due to the predominance of an inadequate street layout and 

deterioration of site improvements, which together constitute an economic underutilization of the Area. The 

proposed Business District also satisfies the four separate findings and tests required for designation.  



 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  13 

3. Business District Plan  

Redevelopment Needs of the Proposed Business District 
  

The economic potential of the proposed Business District is currently hampered by an inadequate street layout 

and deterioration of surface improvements. Investment in infrastructure and improvements in roadways, 

parking and sidewalks in the Area are necessary to increase the economic viability within and adjacent to the 

proposed Business District. The existing conditions of the Area suggest four major redevelopment needs for 

the proposed Business District:  

 

1. Rehabilitation of existing buildings; 

2. Infrastructure and capital improvements;  

3. Resources for new commercial and mixed-use development; and 

4. Site preparation. 

  

This Business District Plan identifies tools for the Village to support the improvement of the proposed Business 

District through provision of necessary infrastructure improvements and other public and private 

improvements to best serve the interests of the Village, local business owners and residents. 

  

The public and private improvements outlined in this Business District Plan will create an environment 

conducive to economic growth and development within the proposed Business District and Village overall.  

 

Goal and Objectives 
 

The overall goal of the Business District Plan is to reduce or eliminate conditions that qualify the proposed 

Business District as a blighted area under the Act and to provide the direction and mechanisms necessary to 

create a vibrant commercial and mixed-use district that will strengthen the economic base and enhance the 

quality of life of the Area and Village as a whole. 

  

The following five objectives support the overall goal of area-wide revitalization of the proposed Business 

District: 

  

1. Enhance the Village’s tax base by encouraging investment and redevelopment within the proposed 

Business District;  

2. Foster the construction, improvement, replacement and/or repair of public infrastructure;  

3. Provide improved pedestrian and bicycle access throughout the proposed Business District;  

4. Promote the improvement of façades and signage within the proposed Business District; and 

5. Promote private investment within the Village.  

  

Public and private improvements throughout the Area will increase the economic viability of businesses within 

and adjacent to the proposed Business District. The overall redevelopment is expected to affect each of the 

properties in the proposed Business District. 

 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  14 

Powers of the Municipality 
 

The Act grants municipalities various powers to designate, implement and maintain a business district. In 

addition to the powers a municipality may now have, a municipality shall have the following powers: 

  

 To make and enter into all contracts necessary or incidental to the implementation and furtherance of 

a business district plan, as more fully set forth in 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-3(1);  

 To acquire by purchase, donation, or lease, and to own, convey, lease, mortgage, or dispose of land 

and other real or personal property or rights or interests within the business district, as more fully set 

forth in 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-3(2) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-3(2.5); 

 To clear any area within a business district by demolition or removal of any existing buildings, 

structures, fixtures, utilities, or improvements, and to clear and grade land;  

 To install, repair, construct, reconstruct, or relocate public streets, public utilities, and other public site 

improvements within or without a business district which are essential to the preparation of a business 

district for use in accordance with a business district plan;  

 To renovate, rehabilitate, reconstruct, relocate, repair, or remodel any existing buildings, structures, 

works, utilities, or fixtures within any business district; 

 To construct public improvements, including but not limited to buildings, structures, works, utilities, or 

fixtures within any business district; 

 To fix, charge, and collect fees, rents, and charges for the use of any building, facility, or property or 

any portion thereof owned or leased by the municipality within a business district; 

 To pay or cause to be paid business district project costs, as more fully set forth in 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-

3(8). Such eligible project costs are defined in the following section. As per 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-3(8.5), 

the Act also empowers the Village to utilize up to 1% of the revenue from a business district retailers' 

occupation tax and service occupation tax and/or a hotel operators' occupation tax (“porting”) for 

business district eligible costs from another business district that is: 

o contiguous to the business district from which the revenues are received; 

o separated only by a public right of way from the business district from which the revenues are 

received; or 

o separated only by forest preserve property from the business district from which the revenues 

are received if the closest boundaries of the business districts that are separated by the forest 

preserve property are less than one mile apart. 

 To apply for and accept grants, guarantees donations of property or labor or any other thing of value 

for use in connection with a business district project;  

 To impose a retailers' occupation tax and a service occupation tax in the business district at a rate not 

to exceed 1.0% of the gross receipts from the sales made (to be imposed only in 0.25% increments) 

for the planning, execution, and implementation of business district plans and to pay for business 

district project costs as set forth in the business district plan approved by the municipality; and 

 To impose a hotel operators' occupation tax in the business district at a rate not to exceed 1.0% of the 

gross receipts from the sales made (to be imposed only in 0.25% increments) for the planning, 

execution, and implementation of business district plans and to pay for the business district project 

costs as set forth in the business district plan approved by the municipality. 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  15 

Financial Plan 
 

ELIGIBLE COSTS 

 

Under the Act, eligible business district project costs include all costs incurred by the municipality, other 

governmental entity or nongovernmental entity in the furtherance of the business district plan, and may 

include: 

 

 Costs of studies, surveys, development of plans and specifications, implementation and administration 

of a plan, and personnel and professional service costs including architectural, engineering, legal, 

market, financial, planning, or other professional services, provided no charges for professional 

services may be based on a percentage of tax revenues received by the municipality; 

 Property assembly costs, including but not limited to, acquisition of land and other real or personal 

property or rights or interests therein, and specifically including payments to developers or other 

nongovernmental persons as reimbursement for property assembly costs incurred by that developer 

or other nongovernmental person; 

 Site preparation costs including but not limited to, clearance, demolition or removal of any existing 

buildings, structures, fixtures, utilities, and improvements, and clearing and grading of land; 

 Costs of installation, repair, construction, reconstruction, extension, or relocation of public streets, 

public utilities, and other public site improvements within or without the business district which are 

essential to the preparation of the business district for use in accordance with the business district 

plan, and specifically including payments to developers or other nongovernmental persons as 

reimbursement for site preparation costs incurred by the developer or nongovernmental person; 

 Costs of renovation, rehabilitation, reconstruction, relocation, repair or remodeling of any existing 

buildings, improvements and fixtures within the business district, and specifically including payments 

to developers or other nongovernmental persons as reimbursement for costs incurred by such 

developer or nongovernmental person; 

 Costs of installation or construction within the business district of buildings, structures, works, streets, 

improvements, equipment, utilities, or fixtures, and specifically including payments to developers or 

other nongovernmental persons as reimbursements for such costs incurred by such developer or 

nongovernmental person; 

 Financing costs, including but not limited to all necessary and incidental expenses related to the 

issuance of obligations, payment of any interest on any obligations issued under the Act that accrues 

during the estimated period of construction of any redevelopment project for which obligations are 

issued and for not exceeding 36 months thereafter, and any reasonable reserves related to the 

issuance of those obligations; and 

 Relocation costs to the extent that a municipality determines that relocation costs shall be paid or is 

required to make payment of relocation costs by federal or state law. 

 

ANTICIPATED PROJECT COSTS 

 

The estimated eligible costs of this Business District Plan are shown in Table 3 below. The total Business District 

Project Costs (“Project Costs”) shown in Table 3 provides an upper limit on expenditures that are to be funded 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  16 

using Business District revenues, exclusive of capitalized interest, issuance costs, interest, and other financing 

costs. Additional funding in the form of county, state and federal grants, private developer contributions, 

porting of funds from contiguous business districts, and other outside sources may be pursued by the Village 

as a means of financing improvements and facilities that are of benefit to the general community. 

  

Table 3. Project Costs  

Eligible Cost Categories [1] Budget 

Professional Services  

(including studies, surveys, legal, architectural, engineering, marketing, etc.) 

$800,000  

Property Assembly  

(including acquisition, reimbursement for developer assembly costs) 

$1,400,000  

Site Preparation  

(including clearance, demolition, clearing & grading) 

$2,800,000  

Public Works Installation, Repair or Construction 

(within or without Business District, which are essential to the Plan, including streets, utilities 

and other public site improvements) 

$17,900,000  

Renovation or Rehabilitation of Existing Buildings, Improvements and Fixtures  

(including reconstruction, relocation, repair and remodeling) 

$9,400,000  

Construction or Installation of Buildings, Improvements, Fixtures, Equipment or Utilities 

(within the Business District) 

$7,500,000  

Financing Costs  

(including expenses related to issuance, interest and reserves related to obligations) 

$100,000  

Relocation Costs  

(to the extent municipality deems necessary or is required by federal or State law) 

$100,000  

TOTAL PROJECT COSTS [2] [3] $40,000,000  

[1] Costs are shown in 2021 dollars and shall be adjusted from time to time to reflect changes in the cost of living, as measured by 

the U. S. Department of Labor's Consumer Price Index. 

[2] Increases in estimated Total Project Costs of more than 5%, after adjustment for inflation from the date this Business District 

Plan is approved, are subject to the amendment procedures as provided under the Act. 

[3] Adjustments may be made among line items in the budget without amendment, as provided under the Act. 

 

Each individual project cost will be reevaluated in light of Business District goals as it is considered for public 

financing under the provisions of the Act. The totals of line items set forth in Table 3 are not intended to place 

a limit on the described expenditures. Adjustments may be made in line items within the total, either increasing 

or decreasing line item costs because of changed redevelopment costs and needs. Within the total Project 

Costs limit, adjustments to the estimated line item costs in Table 3 are expected and may be made by the 

Village without amendment to this Plan. 

 

The Project Costs described above are intended to further the goals outlined in this Plan and will benefit the 

owners and tenants of commercial businesses in the proposed Business District, as well as Village residents 

and patrons of local businesses.  

 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  17 

Anticipated Sources of Funds to Pay Project Costs 
 

As required by the Act, the Village shall establish and maintain a Business District Tax Allocation Fund (the 

“Fund”) to which Business District revenues generated through the Business District Retailers’ Occupation Tax, 

Business District Service Occupation Tax and Business District Hotel Operators’ Occupation Tax shall be 

deposited or credited. The Business District Taxes shall be administered as provided in the Act. Project Costs 

are to be reimbursed using the Fund, as described below. 

 

BUSINESS DISTRICT RETAILERS’ OCCUPATION TAX 

 

A Business District Retailers’ Occupation Tax will be imposed upon persons engaged in the business of selling 

tangible personal property at retail (excluding property titled or registered with an agency of the State of Illinois 

government) in the District at a rate of 0.5% of the gross receipts from the sales made in the course of such 

business. The tax may not be imposed on food for human consumption that is to be consumed off the premises 

from which it is sold (other than alcoholic beverages, soft drinks, and food that has been prepared for 

immediate consumption), prescription and nonprescription medicines, drugs, medical appliances, 

modifications to a motor vehicle for the purposes of rendering it usable by a disabled person, and insulin, urine 

testing materials, syringes, and needles used by diabetics, for human use. 

 

BUSINESS DISTRICT SERVICE OCCUPATION TAX 

 

A Business District Service Occupation Tax will be imposed upon all persons in the District engaged in the 

business of making sales of service, who, as an incident to making those sales of service, transfer tangible 

personal property within the Business District, either in the form of tangible personal property or in the form 

of real estate as an incident to a sale of service. This tax will be imposed at a rate of 0.5% and may not be 

imposed on food for human consumption that is to be consumed off the premises from which it is sold (other 

than alcoholic beverages, soft drinks, and food that has been prepared for immediate consumption), 

prescription and nonprescription medicines, drugs, medical appliances, modifications to a motor vehicle for 

the purposes of rendering it usable by a disabled person, and insulin, urine testing materials, syringes, and 

needles used by diabetics, for human use. 

 

BUSINESS DISTRICT HOTEL OPERATORS’ OCCUPATION TAX 

 

A Business District Hotel Operators’ Occupation Tax will be imposed upon all persons in the Business District 

engaged in the business of renting, leasing or letting rooms in a hotel, at a rate of 0.5% of the gross rental 

receipts, excluding from gross rental receipts, the proceeds of such renting, leasing or letting to permanent 

residents of that hotel. 

 

OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDS 

 

Other sources of funds that may be used to pay for development costs and associated obligations issued or 

incurred include land disposition proceeds, state and federal grants, investment income, private investor and 

financial institution funds, and other lawful sources of funds and revenues as the municipality and developer 

from time to time may deem appropriate. 

 

The proposed Business District may be or become contiguous to, or be separated only by a public right-of-

way from, one or more other business districts created by the Village in accordance with the Act (65 ILCS 5/11 



Village of Burr Ridge / Downtown Business District 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  18 

74.4 4 et. seq.). The Village may utilize Business District tax revenues received from the Business District to pay 

eligible costs, or obligations issued to pay such costs, in such other business districts, and vice versa. The 

amount of revenue from the proposed Business District made available to support such business districts, when 

added to all amounts used to pay eligible business district project costs within the proposed Business District, 

shall not at any time exceed the total Project Costs described in Table 3 of the Plan. 

 

If necessary, the plans for other business districts that may be or already have been created under the Act may 

be drafted or amended, as applicable, to add appropriate and parallel language to allow for the transfer and 

utilization of relevant business district tax revenues between such districts. 

 

ISSUANCE OF OBLIGATIONS 

 

To finance Project Costs, the Village may issue bonds or obligations secured by the anticipated Business District 

Retailers’ Occupation Tax, Business District Service Occupation Tax and Business District Hotel Operators’ 

Occupation Tax generated within the proposed Business District, or such other bonds or obligations as the 

Village may deem as appropriate.  

 

All obligations issued by the Village pursuant to this Plan and the Act shall be retired in the manner provided 

in the ordinance authorizing issuance of such obligations, by the receipts of taxes from the proposed Business 

District and by any other revenue designated or pledged by the Village. The final maturity date of any such 

obligations that are issued may not be later than 20 years from their respective dates of issue or the dissolution 

of the Business District, whichever is earlier. 

 

In addition to paying Project Costs, Business District revenues may be used for the scheduled and/or early 

retirement of obligations, as provided in the ordinance issuing such obligations. As provided in the Act, 

following payment or reimbursement for all Project Costs, any surplus funds in the Fund will be deposited into 

the Village’s general corporate fund. 

 

Establishment and Term of District 
 

Pursuant to the Act, the term of the proposed Business District shall not exceed 23 years from the date the 

ordinance approving this Plan and designating the District is approved. The Business District Retailers’ 

Occupation Tax, Business District Service Occupation Tax and Business District Hotel Operators’ Occupation 

Tax will be imposed for no longer than the term of the Business District. 

 

Provisions for Amending Plan 
 

This Plan may be amended pursuant to the provisions of the Act. 



 

SB Friedman Development Advisors  19 

Appendix 1: Boundary Legal Description 

[PENDING FINALIZATION] 

 

THAT PART OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN BEING BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SAID SECTION 30 AND THE 

WEST EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3 IN BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 2, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE 

WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE AND THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF BURR RIDGE MARKET 

RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 4, 5 AND VACATED EMRO DRIVE IN BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 2 IN THE WEST 1/2 OF 

THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN AND THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 3, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST 1/2 

OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN TO THE 

SOUTHEASTMOST CORNER OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 3; THENCE NORTHERLY 

ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF LINCOLNSHIRE DRIVE AS DEDICATED BY SAID BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 3 TO 

THE SOUTHERLYMOST CORNER OF  LOT 2 IN DEARBORN RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN IN BURR 

RIDGE PARK UNIT 2, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 

12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AND EASTERLY ALONG THE 

EASTERLY LINE OF SAID DEARBORN SUBDIVISION AND THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF LOT 1 IN SAID BURR RIDGE 

PARK UNIT 3 TO THE SOUTHEASTMOST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 3 ALSO BEING 

THE EAST LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SAID SECTION 30; THENCE NORTH ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE 

TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN I.R.E.A.D. PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF 

THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; 

THENCE WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1 IN I.R.E.A.D. PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION AND ITS WEST 

EXTENSION TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 2 IN BURR RIDGE HOTEL PARTNERS PLAT OF 

RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 8, 9 AND 10 IN BURR RIDGE UNIT 1, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST 1/2 OF 

SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; THENCE NORTH 

ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID BURR RIDGE HOTEL PARTNERS PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION TO THE SOUTHERLY 

LINE OF THE PERMANENT EASEMENT FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES  (INTERSTATE ROUTE 55) AS PER 

INSTRUMENT RECORDED AUGUST 12, 1959 AS DOCUMENT NO. 17627674; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY AND 

SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID PERMANENT EASEMENT TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PERMANENT EASEMENT 

ALSO BEING A NORTH LINE OF BURR RIDGE PARKWAY HERETOFORE DEDICATED BY BURR RIDGE PARK UNIT 

1, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE 

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN; THENCE WEST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF BURR RIDGE PARKWAY TO THE 

WEST LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SAID SECTION 30; THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE TO 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING, ALL IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.



  

SB Friedman Development Advisors  20 

Appendix 2: List of PINs in Proposed 

Downtown Business District 

 

Parcel  Parcel 

18303000240000  18303040040000 

18303000260000  18303050010000 

18303000320000  18303050030000 

18303000370000  18303050040000 

18303000380000  18303050050000 

18303000390000  18303000581001 

18303000400000   

18303000410000   

18303000420000   

18303000440000   

18303000450000   

18303000470000   

18303000480000   

18303000500000   

18303010010000   

18303010020000   

18303020010000   

18303020020000   

18303020030000   

18303020040000   

18303030060000   

18303030090000   

18303030100000   

18303030110000   

18303030150000   

18303030160000   

18303030170000   

18303030190000   

18303030200000   

18303040030000   

 
Sources: Cook County; SB Friedman 

  



  

SB Friedman Development Advisors  21 

Appendix 3. Limitations of Engagement 

The Eligibility Study covers events and conditions that were determined to support the designation of the 

proposed Business District as a “blighted area” under the Act at the completion of our field research in 

December 2020 and not thereafter. SB Friedman’s findings do not consider events or conditions that may have 

occurred after completion of field research, including, without limitation, governmental actions and additional 

development. 

  

This Report summarizes the analysis and findings of the consultant’s work, which, unless otherwise noted, is 

solely the responsibility of SB Friedman. The Village is entitled to rely on the findings and conclusions of the 

Report in designating the Area as a business district under the Act. SB Friedman has prepared the Report with 

the understanding that the Village would rely on the findings and conclusions of this Report in proceeding 

with the designation of the proposed Business District and the adoption and implementation of the Plan in 

compliance with the Act. 

 

The Report is based on estimates, assumptions, and other information developed from research of the market, 

knowledge of the industry, and meetings during which we obtained certain information. The sources of 

information and bases of the estimates and assumptions are stated in the Report. Some assumptions inevitably 

will not materialize, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, actual results achieved 

will necessarily vary from those described in our Report, and the variations may be material.  

 

The terms of this engagement are such that we have no obligation to revise the Report to reflect events or 

conditions which occur subsequent to the date of the Report. These events or conditions include, without 

limitation, economic growth trends, governmental actions, additional competitive developments, interest rates, 

and other market factors. However, we will be available to discuss the necessity for revision in view of changes 

in economic or market factors. 

 

Preliminary Business District revenue projections were prepared for the purpose of estimating the approximate 

level of revenues that could be generated by proposed projects and other properties within the proposed 

Business District and from inflationary increases in sales. These projections were intended only to assist in 

preparing a budget for the Business District Plan. 

 

As such, our Report and the preliminary projections prepared under this engagement are intended solely for 

your information, for the purpose of establishing a business district. These projections should not be relied 

upon for purposes of evaluating potential debt obligations or by any other person, firm or corporation, or for 

any other purposes. Neither the Report nor its contents, nor any reference to SB Friedman, may be included 

or quoted in any offering circular or registration statement, appraisal, sales brochure, prospectus, loan, or other 

agreement or document intended for use in obtaining funds from individual investors, without prior written 

consent. 

 


	2021-04-07 Agenda
	2021-03-03 Minutes
	2021-04-07 Staff Report
	Burr Ridge BD Plan DRAFT 04-01-21

